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          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good morning. My

          3  name is Leroy Comrie. I chair the Committee on

          4  Rules, Privileges and Elections. Today we have

          5  before us two Mayoral candidates for the Council's

          6  advice and consent. They are up for appointment and

          7  reappointment to the Conflicts of Interest Board.

          8                 Mr. Andrew Irving, a resident of

          9  Manhattan, replacing Bruce A. Green, who has been

         10  serving in a hold-over capacity since April 1st,

         11  2004, and expires on March 31st, 2010. And Angela

         12  Mariana Ferrer, a resident of Manhattan, who has

         13  been serving as holdover since April 1st, 2004.

         14                 Upon reappointment, Ms. Ferrer, will

         15  fill the remainder of a six-year term that commenced

         16  on April 1st, 2004 and expires on March 31st, 2010.

         17  Both candidates are attorneys. Before we interview

         18  each candidate, I need to explain briefly the

         19  functions of the New York City Conflicts of Interest

         20  Board.

         21                 The Conflicts of Interest Board is

         22  the entity that serves to provide clear guidance to

         23  public employees regarding prohibited conduct

         24  through training, education, and the issuance of

         25  advisory opinions. The Board also adopts rules to
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          2  implement and interpret the provisions of the

          3  Conflicts of Interest Code.

          4                 It reviews and decides on alleged

          5  violations of said code with the power to impose

          6  fines, it can be as high as $10,000 or include

          7  suspension or dismissal from City service where

          8  appropriate.

          9                 The Board also collects and reviews

         10  financial disclosure reports that were just

         11  distributed to the members today. Reminds me of how

         12  broke I am. Board members are entitled to receive

         13  per diem, in the amount of $250 each calendar day

         14  that they perform work for the Board.

         15                 Mr. Irving, the Committee would like

         16  to interview you first.

         17                 Could you please raise your right

         18  hand so the Council could swear you in?

         19                 MR. O'MALLEY: Do you solemnly swear

         20  or affirm the testimony you're about to give the

         21  Committee is the truth and the whole truth?

         22                 MR. IRVING: I do.

         23                 MR. O'MALLEY: Please state your name

         24  for the record.

         25                 MR. IRVING: Andrew Irving.
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          2                 MR. O'MALLEY: Thank you.

          3                 The witness is sworn.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

          5                 We have been joined by Council Member

          6  Simcha Felder from Brooklyn; Council Member

          7  Christine Quinn from Manhattan; Council Member Helen

          8  Sears from Queens; Council Members Margarita Lopez,

          9  and Melinda Katz from Manhattan and Brooklyn;

         10  Council Member Bill Perkins from Manhattan, who

         11  wants to vote and leave, and Council Member Joel

         12  Rivera.

         13                 We are up against the clock, so we'll

         14  try to be as quickly as possible. Sorry, this

         15  doesn't reflect on your candidacies, but we'll try

         16  to do this as quickly as possible.

         17                 Council Member Perkins would like to

         18  vote.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It reflect in

         20  the candidacy because that means that we have no

         21  problem because they are so good that we have no

         22  problem.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Well, we'll

         24  vet that in a minute. We'll vet that in a minute.

         25                 But Council Member Perkins would like
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          2  to vote.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me just

          4  underscore the opinion shared by my colleague

          5  Margarita Lopez, that my absence is no reflection of

          6  your qualifications and/or my lack of support. Like

          7  Simcha Felder, I want to vote aye on all. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council members,

          9  did you want to vote, too, since you're standing? Or

         10  are you just standing?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: No, we're

         12  watching your back.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, you're

         14  watching my back. Thank you.

         15                 We're joined by Council Member Yvette

         16  Clarke from Brooklyn.

         17                 Mr. Irving, would you like to make an

         18  opening statement?

         19                 MR. IRVING: Yes, and I will be brief.

         20                 Good afternoon. I'm pleased to be

         21  Mayor Bloomberg's nominee for a position on he

         22  Conflicts of Interest Board, and I appreciate your

         23  prompt consideration of my nomination.

         24                 I'm a New Yorker. I was born in

         25  Brooklyn, as were my sister, my parents, my wife and
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          2  my daughter. Our son was born in the Bronx, but it's

          3  also part of New York.

          4                 I've lived in New York City since

          5  1973. My daughter, now in the seventh grade, has

          6  attended New York City Public Schools since

          7  Kindergarten.

          8                 As a New Yorker, I believe the Board

          9  does important work to maintain the integrity of the

         10  delivery of public services, and just as important,

         11  to promote public confidence that the City's

         12  businesses conducted without the taint of improper

         13  influence of private interest.

         14                 As I've studied the Board's work in

         15  recent weeks, I've learned that the Board does its

         16  work conscientiously and well.

         17                 I believe I can contribute to the

         18  Board's work by bringing the perspective that I've

         19  gained during 25 years of advising clients who

         20  themselves have held positions of trust, bound by a

         21  duty of loyalty to others that resembles the

         22  policies behind the Ethics laws that the Board

         23  administers.

         24                 The trustees of public and private

         25  sector pension funds, and the union officers that
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          2  I've worked with over the years are all subject to

          3  State and federal laws requiring that they avoid

          4  conflicts of interest.

          5                 In my current position as senior vice

          6  president and general counsel of independent

          7  fiduciary services, my colleagues and I take on

          8  fiduciary responsibility for certain kinds of

          9  decisions, and we are duty bound to comply with

         10  those same standards.

         11                 As a result, I believe I understand

         12  what the Ethics Law is about, how that law impacts

         13  real people, meaning the public servants who have to

         14  comply with it and the citizens who deserve that

         15  compliance.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         18                 Can you provide the Committee with

         19  your general understanding and functions of being a

         20  Board member for Conflicts of Interest. And you just

         21  described why you would like to be appointed, but

         22  really, and you sounded like you have some concept

         23  of the appointment and what's entailed, but can you

         24  just give us a brief background of your

         25  understanding so far?
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          2                 Well, the Board has first an

          3  education and training function for training public

          4  officials and City employees, with respect to their

          5  duties and responsibilities to comply with the law.

          6  The Board also issues advisory opinions to interpret

          7  the law to provide guidance to the individual

          8  employees who make the request, and when they are

          9  published they also provide guidance to employees

         10  more generally.

         11                 The Board also hears and adjudicates

         12  regarding alleged violations of the law; and,

         13  finally, the Board has responsibilities regarding

         14  the financial disclosure requirements of City and

         15  State law that apply to City employees.

         16                 So, it's administering the law and

         17  carrying out those functions that's at the heart of

         18  what the Board does.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Who informs you

         20  of the availability of the vacancy for the position?

         21                 MR. IRVING: I heard about the

         22  submission. I submitted my resume to the

         23  Administration. I had heard about the position

         24  initially from the -- I was called by Andrea Davis

         25  from the Mayor's Committee of appointments and
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          2  invited down to a meeting by the Mayor's Committee

          3  on Appointments.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And you submitted

          5  an application to be considered for Mayoral

          6  Committees in general you said? Or that's what you

          7  started to say in the beginning?

          8                 MR. IRVING: No. I think it was the

          9  Conflicts of Interest Board that I had originally

         10  expressed the interest in.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So, since you

         12  expressed that interest, you obviously had looked at

         13  or reviewed some articles or concerns of the

         14  Conflicts of Interest Board in the past?

         15                 MR. IRVING: I was aware of their

         16  work, just from being a concerned citizen.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         18                 And why did you pick the Conflicts of

         19  Interest Board, as opposed to another -- I answered

         20  your question? I'm sorry, Councilman Felder.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: You did. You

         22  did ask the question.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. Okay.

         24                 I'm sorry.

         25                 MR. IRVING: Why the Conflicts of
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          2  Interest Board?

          3                 I thought because of my experience

          4  that I described in my statement where I'd been

          5  representing pension fund trustees, both public

          6  sector and private sector who are governed by laws

          7  that impose a duty of loyalty and there are conflict

          8  of interest rules that apply to those.

          9                 I've been working with that for a

         10  long time and I've got some experience in

         11  understanding the law and advising people on those

         12  issues. So, I thought that it was a good match

         13  between that experience and the jurisdiction and

         14  duties of the Board.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Council

         16  Member Rivera and Council Member Katz need to vote

         17  at this time.

         18                 So, if the Counsel could take their

         19  votes.

         20                 MR. O'MALLEY: Council Member Rivera.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I vote aye on

         22  all.

         23                 MR. O'MALLEY: Council Member Katz.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye on all.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member
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          2  Helen Sears has a question. Now, remember to sign

          3  the sheets and leave the books here. They're

          4  confidential.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chair.

          7                 I just have a comment on the

          8  renomination of counselor Ferrer. She has been such

          9  a wonderful, wonderful member of the Conflicts of

         10  Interest Board, and I really and truly am delighted

         11  that she has chosen to stay on. I think we need to

         12  consider the fact that she is voluntarily asked to

         13  do so, and that's very commendable, because

         14  considering your schedule and everything you are

         15  involved with, that I think we're fortunate to have

         16  you.

         17                 MS. FERRER: Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So, I wanted to

         19  make those comments and state for the Committee to

         20  do so.

         21                 And for Mr. Irving, welcome.

         22                 MR. IRVING: Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I really don't

         24  know you, but I'm sure we'll get to know you. And

         25  thank you very much, Mr. Chair. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm sorry. We've

          3  been joined by Council Member Diana Reyna. Council

          4  Member Clarke has a question. And Council Member

          5  David Weprin, sorry.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 I want to welcome both of our

          9  candidates here this morning, I know Ms. Ferrer. Am

         10  I getting that somewhat correct?

         11                 MS. FERRER: That's it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Very good.

         13  You're up for reappointment, and I want to welcome

         14  your continued service to the Conflicts of Interest

         15  Board.

         16                 I guess my questions would be --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: She hasn't been

         18  sworn in yet. Mr. Irving.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes, I do have

         20  questions for Mr. Irving. We'll get back to Ms.

         21  Ferrer in a moment.

         22                 Mr. Irving, you are seeking to become

         23  a member of the Conflicts of Interest Board, and

         24  that's a very unique position to be in when you're a

         25  resident of the City of New York, you're an active
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          2  member of a community of a workplace and a working

          3  environment, and I noticed you had worked in a

          4  previous capacity with a firm that actually has done

          5  business with, or has members that has done business

          6  with the City of New York, just to put it mildly.

          7  And you're currently with another company that does

          8  municipal work, does work with municipalities,

          9  rather. Not necessarily with the City of New York

         10  but with municipalities. And our concern is always

         11  about, just like yours, conflicts of interest. And I

         12  wanted to get a sense from you of, you know, what

         13  you feel is the role of a member, particularly in

         14  light of the fact that I personally believe that in

         15  the City of New York, unlike many other towns, well,

         16  problems like most towns, we have six degrees of

         17  separation. Something always knows somebody that

         18  knows somebody who actually knows you, and in your

         19  line of work that becomes even more I think

         20  prevalent.

         21                 How would you handle a situation

         22  where perhaps the firm that you're affiliated with,

         23  you may have to review some materials or information

         24  with respect to personnel that you've had previous

         25  dealings with; how would you handle that? And do you
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          2  believe there's a time limit in which that

          3  information becomes less relevant with respect to

          4  conflicts of interest.

          5                 MR. IRVING: Well, to answer the first

          6  part, I would seek advice from the Board, if there

          7  was a matter that came before the Board that

          8  involved someone with whom I or my firm, you know,

          9  had dealings with, that created any risk at all,

         10  that it could be viewed as skewing my judgment, I

         11  would ask for an opinion from the board as to

         12  whether I would recuse myself, and the advice that I

         13  got is the advice that I would follow.

         14                 So, that's how I would handle that.

         15                 As far as time goes, I think it's a

         16  continuum. It depends on the nature of the

         17  particular relationship. If it was someone with whom

         18  I worked very closely for over the years, then I

         19  think that for a longer period of time, that

         20  relationship would implicate a need to get the kind

         21  of advice that I described.

         22                 If it was someone with whom the

         23  contact was only incidental, then it may be that a

         24  shorter period of time is appropriate. But I would

         25  view those on a case-by-case basis. And needless to
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          2  say, I would air greatly on the side of caution and

          3  seek advice and direction on how to deal with the

          4  situation.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you very

          6  much, Mr. Chair.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Irving.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

          9  Lopez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I have to wait

         11  til you come back to the reappointment.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Let's move

         13  to that then at this time.

         14                 Mrs. Ferrer, apparently everybody

         15  wants to question you, so if you can raise your

         16  right hand to be sworn in.

         17                 MR. O'MALLEY: Do you solemnly swear

         18  or affirm the testimony you're about to give the

         19  Committee is the truth and the whole truth?

         20                 MS. FERRER: I do.

         21                 MR. O'MALLEY: Please state your name

         22  for the record.

         23                 MS. FERRER: I'm Helen Maria Ferrer.

         24                 MR. O'MALLEY: Thank you.

         25                 The witness is sworn.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Would you

          3  like to make an opening statement?

          4                 MS. FERRER: I just want to state that

          5  I'm very pleased and very proud to have been

          6  nominated for reappointment and to be able to

          7  continue to serve the City.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, thank you.

          9                 Council Member Lopez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         11                 I have a couple of questions that I

         12  wanted to ask, but before I make any question, I

         13  want to tell you how proud I am that you sit on this

         14  Board, and how impressed I am of the work that you

         15  have conducted in the board specifically.

         16                 MS. FERRER: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Can you state

         18  for the purpose of the record what is the position

         19  that you play inside of the Board?

         20                 MS. FERRER: I am a member of the

         21  Conflicts of Interest Board. I'm one of five members

         22  of the Board.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And of those

         24  five members that are in there, beside you,

         25  obviously, you are a person of color and Latina, how
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          2  many other members of color are in that Board?

          3                 MS. FERRER: None.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Why we have not

          5  tried to diversify that Board in a way that bring

          6  all of what New York City is about? Do you know?

          7                 MS. FERRER: I do not.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then I want to

          9  bring this to your attention, because I know that

         10  you're a person of integrity and I know that that

         11  Board is a Board that conduct business in very

         12  appropriate manner and personally I have just

         13  admiration for all of you.

         14                 But there's something that I continue

         15  not to understand about the Board, which is the lack

         16  of diversity on it, and it's something that I want

         17  to invite the Board to fix. And now that we are

         18  reappointing you, the Board will continue to have a

         19  member of the community of color, but if you will

         20  not be there, then the Board will be a board that

         21  really do not represent what the City is about in

         22  regard of the diversity that we sustain in our City.

         23                 I don't think that that is

         24  appropriate, and I don't think that that send a

         25  message that is healthy.
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          2                 Then I want to invite you as a person

          3  that I truly respect and have great admiration for,

          4  to explore how this can be addressed inside of the

          5  Board, and I am very glad that you're going to be

          6  reappointed to the Board. Congratulations, and I

          7  feel proud that you are my sister.

          8                 MS. FERRER: Thank you for your

          9  comments.

         10                 I do want to point out that the

         11  positions on the Board are filled by the Mayor, they

         12  are not filled by the other members of the Board,

         13  but I entirely will support your comments and will

         14  communicate to the powers that be the substance of

         15  them, and obviously work towards fulfilling that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I was aware

         17  that you are not the ones who nominate or appoint

         18  people. I'm very aware of that. And I understand

         19  that. But we in this City cannot continue with the

         20  situation where everybody see the elephant in the

         21  middle of the room and nobody do anything about it.

         22                 It is the responsibility of everyone.

         23  It's my responsibility, your responsibility, the

         24  responsibility of everyone in this City to make sure

         25  that we embrace diversity.
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          2                 Diversity in every direction, not in

          3  the direction of people of color only. It include

          4  women, it include older and young people, disabled

          5  people. And I think that unless in the City we look

          6  at that in a very critical way, we are not going to

          7  be able to accomplish what we really are about.

          8                 I will close by telling you this.

          9                 During September 11th, a couple of

         10  children in my community came to me and asked me if

         11  we have heroes in the Latino community. I answered

         12  them why did they ask me that question, and they

         13  said they did not saw (sic) a single firefighter

         14  that was with the Latino name. And that was very

         15  painful for me to hear from those children.

         16                 This Board have a mission which is to

         17  sustain for all of us in the City that things are

         18  done right by the book and ethically speaking. When

         19  children look at this Board and they don't see

         20  people that look like them, what is the thought? Do

         21  we have ethical people in our community or not?

         22                 And these are things that all of us

         23  should be aware of. Then that's the reason I bring

         24  this to your attention, because I take very serious

         25  my responsibility to diversify all of the

                                                            21

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  institutions of our City based on that comment that

          3  that child made to me.

          4                 MS. FERRER: One of my colleagues is a

          5  woman, Jane Parver, another Board member is a woman,

          6  and we had a Board member Benito Romano, who is a

          7  Hispanic man, who retired last year. So, we have and

          8  have had diversity on the Board.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then I don't

         10  make you responsible for this in any way, shape or

         11  form, I want to make that very clear. And I want to

         12  make very clear that this is the responsibility of

         13  those who appoint, those who approve, to make sure

         14  that this change.

         15                 I just want to encourage the inside

         16  members to begin looking into this matter, because I

         17  think it's serious, and I think it need to be

         18  correct.

         19                 Then, again, congratulations in your

         20  appointment, and I'm very glad that I'm going to

         21  vote on that today, and you are one of my heroes.

         22                 MS. FERRER: Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Let me put it

         24  that way. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, we've been
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          2  joined by Minority Leader James Oddo and Council

          3  Member Lew Fidler from Brooklyn.

          4                 Just some housekeeping matters for

          5  both candidates. I'll ask Mr. Irving, first, will

          6  you err on the side of caution and seek the advice

          7  of the Conflicts of Interest Board itself to decide

          8  if we recusal is warranted in cases where either you

          9  or your firm have a relationship with an individual

         10  who has a matter that is before the Conflicts of

         11  Interest Board?

         12                 MR. IRVING: Yes, I will.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Mrs. Ferrer, the

         14  same question.

         15                 MS. FERRER: Yes, I will, and I have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you. I had

         17  a lot of questions on the pay to play issue. You've

         18  made some public comments regarding it, and you've

         19  attributed some answers in your pre-hearing

         20  questions. Has the Board received any request to

         21  examine that issue?

         22                 MS. FERRER: Not yet.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Have you

         24  contemplated any action regarding that issue in

         25  pre-conversation or public conversation?
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          2                 MS. FERRER: No, we have not.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Not in any formal

          4  Board meeting setting.

          5                 Clearly you support an increase in

          6  the Board's powers and greater budgetary

          7  independence and reflected that in your prehearing

          8  answers, so I'd just like to ask you a couple of

          9  questions about an issue that was recently discussed

         10  in the New York Times, but I'm told I have to leave

         11  to go to another meeting. You know, but you clearly,

         12  you know, I just want to say that I think it's a

         13  good tact and to try and focus on as much

         14  independence for the Board and clear independence

         15  would be necessary for the Conflicts of Interest

         16  Board.

         17                 Although you're appointed by the

         18  Mayor independently and we have to vet it to bring

         19  you about as much independence as possible, so that

         20  you can feel clear about all of your decisions, not

         21  that you don't now, because both of you come in with

         22  excellent records, I think that to have a little bit

         23  more independence would make it even less obtuse to

         24  some minds, not that it should be. And anything that

         25  can make that clearer should be looked at by both
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          2  sides of the aisle.

          3                 MS. FERRER: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And I'm going to

          5  move to the vote, since Margarita Lopez and Helen

          6  Sears have both said how wonderful you are, even

          7  though my staff has come up with and perked my ideas

          8  about a lot of things with the interpretation of

          9  some different complaints, I'm really out of time.

         10  So, I'll just go to a housekeeping matter. We'll

         11  move to vote for the rest of the members that are

         12  here. General Counsel, is the clerk here? General

         13  Counsel can call the roll.

         14                 MR. O'MALLEY: Comrie.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye on all.

         16                 MR. O'MALLEY: Reyna.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Aye on all.

         18                 MR. O'MALLEY: Clarke.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Aye on all.

         20                 MR. O'MALLEY: Fidler.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Aye.

         22                 MR. O'MALLEY: Weprin.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Aye on all.

         24                 MR. O'MALLEY: Oddo.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: He stepped out.

                                                            25

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 Is Patrick here? Who's representing

          3  the Mayor? Patrick, there's an outstanding matter

          4  regarding the status of appointment and where are we

          5  with the status in the review for Dr. Honey Brown?

          6  Appointment to HHC Board?

          7                 MR. LEHR: Good afternoon. I'm Patrick

          8  Lehr, with the Mayor's Legislative Affairs Office.

          9  I've spoken with the Appointments Office for the

         10  Mayor and that have told me that DOI has sent the

         11  paperwork over to Dr. Brown some time ago, she has

         12  the paperwork and they're waiting for a response.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: So you're waiting

         14  from her. Okay. All right, well, thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 MR. O'MALLEY: By a vote of eight in

         17  the affirmative, none in the negative, both matters

         18  have been adopted and the reports need to be signed.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         20                 Committee members, don't forget to

         21  turn in your books. Congratulations to both

         22  candidates for deciding to serve and for continuing

         23  to serve. I look forward to having another

         24  discussion with you in another venue regarding the

         25  Conflicts of Interest Board issues.
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          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 MS. FERRER: With pleasure.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Your commitment

          4  to the City is to be applauded. And we'll keep the

          5  record open for the members that are not here but

          6  are in the building.

          7                 With that, the meeting part of the

          8  Committee is closed. Thank you very much for

          9  attending today.

         10                 MS. FERRER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 23rd day of March 2005.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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